
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA Notice is hereby given that the Downtown Revitalization 


Subcommittee of the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority, will hold a regular or special 


meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below.  


Meeting of the: Downtown Revitalization Subcommittee 


Date/Time: Tuesday, November 5, 2019 6:00 pm 


Location: Hall of Fame Room in Opera House Building (381 E. Main St.) use side entrance 


Members:  Phil Caravello, Joe Crubaugh, Denise Duranczyk, Sharon Mason-Boersma, Peter 


McMasters, Jamae Ramsden, Alan Sheets, Lukas Trow 


 


Item #    AGENDA 


1  Call to Order 


  Old Business 


2  Minutes September 3, 2019 Meeting   


  New Business 


3  Preliminary report from Jay Blue and Diane Williams on survey results,   


              Open House, and Interviews 


4  Discussion and possible action on public input preliminary report  


5  Discussion on next steps and possible action 


6  Future agenda items- have Landmarks Chair come to a meeting 


7  Adjournment 


NOTE: An expanded meeting may constitute a quorum of the City Council and/or RDA.  


If you are disabled and in need of assistance, please call 873-6677 prior to this meeting.  


Note: For security reasons, the front door of the Opera House Building will be locked after 4:30 p.m. If 


you need to enter Opera House after that time, please use the Fifth Street entrances 








                              Downtown Revitalization Subcommitee 
 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 @ 6:00 p.m. 
 
Location:  Hall of Fame Room in Stoughton’s Old City Hall (381 E. Main 
St.) 
 
Members present:  Phil Caravello, Joe Crubaugh, Denise Duranczyk, Sharon 
Mason-Boersma, Peter McMasters, Alan Sheets, Jamae Ramsden 
 
Call to Order – made by Denise D. 
 
Old Business – a motion was made to accept the minutes for the Downtown 
Revitalization Subcommittee meeting of August 6, 2019 by Phil C.;   
seconded by Denise D. – motion was carried.  
 
Discussion was made for the disbursement of the Market Survey post cards 
to downtown business owners, City Hall, the Senior Center, and Library.  
Denise encouraged all Subcommittee members to make an earnest effort to 
provide information to the general public, both residents and nonresidents of 
Stoughton about taking the Market Survey.  In September, performances at 
the Stoughton Opera House will also be a location for disbursement of the 
Market Survey information as well as the two local Farmer’s Markets.  
Additionally, later in the month, the Art Walk was mentioned as a possible 
location for the disbursement of the Market Survey as well as Eugster’s 
Farm in rural Stoughton.  Local financial institutions will also be contacted 
for providing the Market Survey post cards to its customers.  At the time of 
this meeting, 662 surveys had been completed; 1000 is the favorable goal. 
 
Hard copies of the Market Survey were encouraged to be provided at the 
locations of the Stoughton Senior Center and Stoughton Library.  Denise 
will follow up with J. Blue, Ayres Associates, about securing hard copies of 
the Market Survey.  She will also contact staff of the HUB to request news 
coverage of this information. 
 
Discussion was made about the First Public Input Meeting to be held at 5-8 
p.m. on October 1, 2019 at Lageret.  The First Public Input Meeting, open to 
the public, will present information at 4 stations about what vision the public 
would like to see for downtown Stoughton related to:  values, events, 
visitor’s center & public facilities, art and gateway, parks & open space, 







business and dining, and general parking areas.  The public will then be 
asked to use colored dots and sticky notes to designate their opinions and 
responses at each station.  A 5th station will also be set up with 1-2 
computers on site for people to take the Market Survey if they have not yet 
done so. 
 
Discussion was made for a tentative future meeting schedule with Ayres 
Associates and the Subcommittee:  November; possibly December 3rd; 
February, 2020; and March, 2020. 
 
Next Meeting:  Tuesday, October 1, 2019 – First Public Input Meeting @ 
Lageret. 
Notion to Adjourn – Sharon M-B made a motion to adjourn the meeting; 
Phil C. seconded the motion. Motion was carried. 
 
Minutes written by Sharon Mason-Boersma 
 
   
 








The following demographic data considers downtown Stoughton’s primary markets. The markets include:


• .5-Mile, or Pedestrian, Market: This market includes nearby residents and employees who can easily walk to 
downtown Stoughton.


• 5-Minute, or Convenience Drive, Market: Located within a 5-minute drive or a 10-minute bike ride to downtown 
Stoughton, these residents and employees can readily access downtown’s businesses. Like nearby residents, they 
frequently patronize downtown businesses.


• 30-Minute, or Destination, Market: This geography (see map below) represents the destination market for 
downtown Stoughton. This market has increased in importance with the advent of online ordering and mobile 
phone use. For most consumers, 30-minutes represents the drive time for same day pick-up of an online purchase. 
‘Near Me’ searches are important for consumer restaurant selection and in determining whether to attend an 
event.


• Custom Market: Downtown’s business owners described this geography as the market for most of their customers 
during stakeholder interviews. (A map of this market follows the 30-minute drive time map.)


• City of Stoughton: The City’s demographics are displayed for comparison purposes. Residents of any community 
identify with their downtown and represent an important component of downtown business revenues. For 
Stoughton, much of the City is located within 5-minutes of downtown.


The data and maps are followed by chart displaying downtown Stoughton’s current business mix, based upon 
information provided by Stoughton’s Redevelopment Authority (RDA).


Demographics and Markets


1 of 19


demographics  &  markets







2 of 19


demographics  &  markets


Map: 30-Minute ‘Near Me’ Market







3 of 19


demographics  &  markets


Map: Custom Market


Downtown’s Current Business Mix







4 of 19


demographics  &  markets


Strategic Implications for Downtown Stoughton


• Overall, downtown Stoughton’s markets are strong and growing, particularly the larger markets.
• Downtown’s larger market geographies are younger (even excluding the university population), higher income, 


and growing in population. Estimated dining, or food away from home, spending indicates overall household 
spending power. Given these market strengths, high performing downtown businesses can compete and capture 
additional sales from consumers within these larger markets. To effectively compete, downtown businesses 
will need to match and adapt their operations to changing consumer needs and behaviors, including how 
consumers use technology.


• According to Experian’s psychographic data, 37.3% of Stoughton’s households are described as ‘Flourishing 
Families.’ Increasing the emphasis on family-friendly activities will enable affinity for downtown as Stoughton’s 
gathering place and for downtown’s businesses. This also creates reasons for families from nearby towns or 
living in the region to visit Stoughton.


• These larger markets also exhibit greater racial and ethnic diversity than the City of Stoughton and the markets 
closer to downtown. This local trend resembles the national trend of increasing population diversity in all types 
of communities. 


• Currently, the largest component of downtown’s business mix by business unit is retail. This is an advantage to 
downtown Stoughton. Sustaining this component of the mix will require concerted efforts to support business 
growth (programs, expansion, and recruitment) by private and public sector interests. Nationally and regionally, 
those business categories seeking lease space, opening, and succeeding in traditional downtowns include 
health, wellness and personal service businesses and food and beverage businesses, specifically restaurants, 
coffee shops, and specialty food businesses. Retailers in downtowns and elsewhere now occupy smaller spaces, 
or store footprints, given sector trends. These newer uses (and in some communities, small office users) are also 
important by attracting additional and regular foot traffic to any downtown and all businesses.


• Adapting to changing markets, consumer behaviors, and the real estate requirements for current and emerging 
uses will serve as the foundation for downtown Stoughton’s economic future.







The broader market trends affecting all sectors and uses have important implications for commercial districts, whether 
traditional downtowns, commercial corridors, or neighborhood business districts. Altered consumer behaviors, 
technology, and lifestyle shifts will continue to influence the future success of businesses and uses in districts like 
downtown Stoughton. For ground level businesses in traditional downtowns, how they sell is now more important than 
what they sell. Ground level businesses with strong operating characteristics can succeed in downtown commercial 
environments. This ability to respond to rapid market change will be critical for Stoughton’s downtown stakeholders. For 
Stoughton, the relevant market and sector trends and their attributes are described below:


• ‘The Experience’
 þ Welcoming to the entire community
 þ Gathering places—public and commercial
 þ Unique special events
 þ Temporary uses/spaces and Emerging business types/formats creating excitement
 þ Residents AND visitors


• Technology, Technology, Technology
• Rapidly Changing Real Estate Needs


 þ Smaller footprints
 þ Shorter leases for shared, short-term, and seasonal uses
 þ Changing work environments
 þ Technology as an integrated tool
 þ Expansion: New definition


• Retail Sector Trends
 þ ‘Goods to people’ versus ‘People to goods’


  - Fostering a ‘community’ of customers
  - Purpose matters to consumers


 þ ‘Clicks and Mortar’ and market position
 þ Stores as showrooms, event spaces, and delivery mechanisms
 þ Health, wellness, and beauty are growing


• Restaurant Sector Trends
 þ Labor shortages and related costs, particularly for indies
 þ Off-premise sales—DoorDash, GrubHub, and UberEATS
 þ Non-traditional competition—‘groceraunts,’ theater dining, and ‘ghost’ kitchens 
 þ ‘Guest facing’ technologies
 þ ‘Morphing’ formats for concept testing


• Employment Sector Trends
 þ Workforce diversity—age and race/ethnicity
 þ ‘Skills’ gap and talent scarcity
 þ Altered nature of work
 þ Entrepreneurship and small business growth
 þ The ‘gig’ economy and ‘work from anywhere’ benefit
 þ Downtown amenities as an employer benefit


• Residential Sector Trends
 þ ‘Rent by choice’ and affordability
 þ Access to employment and family needs


market  trends  in   downtown  uses


5 of 19







6 of 19


market  trends  in   downtown  uses


 þ Amenities are key
  - Smaller unit sizes
  - Higher end finishes
  - Package storage
  - Pets


 þ Availability of housing types, such as ‘missing middle,’ multi-generational, or ADUs
 þ ‘Homecomers,’ or young residents returning to their hometowns


Strategic Implications for Downtown Stoughton


• Business turnover remains a factor in all downtowns, even the most successful. Businesses close for many 
reasons. Though the perception created may be concerning, the opportunity to attract new businesses with new 
customers exists.


• Downtown Stoughton has multiple ground level businesses with strong operations. However, the current mix also 
includes hobby businesses, or businesses serving the owner lifestyle versus consumer needs. Developing a set of 
business support and growth resources to assist new and existing downtown businesses represents one aspect of 
addressing turnover. 


• Among these business growth resources should be assistance with business succession planning to ensure that 
strong, established businesses can transition to new owners.


• Downtown’s private sector, given the large percentage of owner-occupied buildings, can improve their buildings 
to enable downtown business, employment, and residential growth.


• Additional downtown (and nearby) employment represents ‘bonus’ spending power for downtown Stoughton’s 
businesses. Increased employment from small office uses and shared work spaces can also contribute to 
downtown’s activity.


• Enhancing the quality of downtown’s residential units can expand the City’s available housing types and 
possible lodging options--both enhancing the local customer base.







During this planning process, market-related observations were obtained through confidential interviews with downtown 
stakeholders (conducted on site on July 31, 2019 and by phone in August 2019) and in a stakeholder focus group held 
on August 1, 2019. Participants included downtown business and property owners, Stoughton residents, City officials, 
and representatives from Stoughton’s major employers, local arts organizations, and downtown event organizers. 


These interviewees and focus group participants recognize that sustained work will be required to improve downtown 
Stoughton’s economy. They also recognize that improvement will require time and investment by both the private and 
public sectors. Downtown Stoughton has multiple assets as a commercial district, but approaches and attitudes must 
change to address how downtown Stoughton will function in the future. Most important, all stakeholders want an 
economically vital downtown Stoughton that attracts more people, strong businesses, and local investment.


Downtown Stoughton: General Issues and Perceptions


• Recent vacancies have caused concern among downtown’s business community. While owners had individual 
reasons for their business closures, the combined effect creates negative perceptions for residents and visitors.


• In the past, Stoughton functioned as a distinct community with Norwegian roots. The City now serves as an 
economic component of a larger region and as a Madison suburb. 


• Stoughton’s downtown needs to become more welcoming to diverse populations. The City has become more 
diverse, as has the region. Stoughton’s Norwegian story now represents one of many stories reflecting the City’s 
history. 


• Downtown Stoughton’s private and public sector interests need a unified vision for a successful downtown future. 
The City and its downtown interests are perceived as resistant to change. Implementing any vision will require 
change. Potential investors also indicate that Stoughton needs to become more forward thinking and open to 
new ideas specific to downtown’s future economic growth.


Downtown’s Businesses and Uses


• Downtown’s businesses need to recognize that national trends, particularly for retailers, apply to their present 
and future, and these businesses need to continuously adapt. This adaptation includes ‘omni-channel’ marketing 
and sales.


• Many downtown retailers close at 5 or 6PM and are not always open during their posted hours. Other 
participants indicated that this inhibits early evening purchasing by Stoughton residents who work in Madison 
or elsewhere. Downtown’s retailers indicated that few customers patronize their stores after 5 and that closing 
earlier is important to their family lives.


• Too many hobby businesses and unsustainable businesses locate in downtown Stoughton. This negatively affects 
neighboring businesses and has contributed to recent business closings.


• Additional dining options are needed downtown to supplement the current restaurant cluster. 
• Additional housing in or near downtown was cited as an opportunity to support downtown business growth.
• There is minimal collaboration among downtown’s businesses, including strategic marketing efforts that could 


benefit multiple businesses. Related to the lack of collaboration is minimal communication among downtown’s 
businesses.


• Temporary uses, such as food trucks, pop-ups, or AirBNB lodging, are emerging opportunities to activate 
downtown Stoughton. Local regulations may need updates to support emerging uses.


7 of 19


stakeholder  observations







8 of 19


stakeholder  observations


Downtown’s Market Context


• With minor variations, downtown’s businesses are generally attracting consumers from similar regional market 
geographies. (This is displayed in the Custom Market map included in the Demographics and Markets section of 
this summary.)


• Downtown Stoughton needs new ideas and fresh approaches to increase downtown business revenues and to 
improve downtown for the future. This will require greater collaboration among all downtown stakeholders. 


• While new Stoughton residents are very committed to downtown and the City, both areas need to attract 
younger residents and families to the community.


Appearance and Design Issues


• Downtown needs to look better. This observation encompassed several aspects—cleanliness outside of 
storefronts, store window merchandising, certain building facades, and vacancies.


• Alleys, including rear-parking areas, were described as unkempt, poorly maintained, and dangerous in winter 
weather.


• The Main Street corridor needs more plantings and greenery to create a nicer overall experience.


Access and Circulation


• Parking enforcement during the day was cited as restrictive. The two (2) hour parking limit in most locations is 
insufficient if customers want to shop and dine.


• Parking is available but difficult for downtown customers to locate. More informational signage and better, 
consistent wayfinding would help manage any parking issue. This also applies to rear parking areas located 
behind Main Street buildings requires better signage.


Real Estate and Local Incentives


• Stoughton’s downtown real estate includes a high percentage of owner occupants, or business owners who own 
their storefronts. Rents in leased storefronts are described as ‘very high.’


• According to regional real estate professionals, the downtown real estate market is a good market.  Prospective 
tenants considering downtown lease space are primarily personal services and service-related.


• The range of ground level rents for downtown lease space is difficult to determine, given the high percentage of 
business owner-occupants. Stoughton’s ground level rents are described as negotiable, but general in the $8-
$13 PSF range. Rents allocated (or paid) by owner-occupants to their buildings vary significantly by property 
ownership structure and owner tax status. These rents are typically below market rents. Asking rents per square 
foot (PSF) for vintage ground level lease in the south Madison area generally $12-$15 PSF with varied add-ons. 
Asking rents for restaurant lease space is slightly higher PSF, typically $14-$20 PSF. 


• Downtown’s historic buildings suffer from deferred maintenance and disinvestment. For businesses owning their 
buildings, upper story residential rents are the economic driver for property ownership. 


• Currently available local incentive programs need to be modified. These incentives do not match the needs of 
downtown’s property owners.







9 of 19


stakeholder  observations


Downtown Events and Activities


• Stoughton’s arts and cultural institutions attract large numbers of visitors to Stoughton’s downtown annually. As 
one example, the continued growth of the Opera House audience is important to the success of downtown’s 
restaurants. The City has also received regional recognition for its arts programming.


• The major downtown festival, Syttende Mai, continues to attract nearly 20,000 each year, providing important 
exposure to downtown’s businesses. 


• A more recent event, the Stoughton Community Farmers Market continues to grow attendance and its 
community of customers through social media.


• The downtown has a complete, annual event calendar including new and established events. Some overlap 
exists among current events and targeted audiences. Also, there is no single information source (webpage or 
other media) with the complete downtown event schedule.


Organization and Partnerships


• The partnership between the City and downtown’s private sector needs to be strengthened. Roles and 
responsibilities for the private and public sectors require definition. As one example, the private sector needs to 
better understand local regulatory processes, and the public sector needs to better educate the private sector 
about these processes.


• Downtown leadership, or a liaison function, is needed to enable collaboration among businesses. Multiple 
participants cited this need.


• Strong partnerships with multiple local interests will be important to downtown growth and any downtown 
leadership. As examples, partnerships with downtown’s arts and cultural institutions would be beneficial for 
downtown’s future. This could include multiple activities to enliven downtown in small ways. The City’s major 
employers can provide access to expertise and potential customers.


• Engaging residents interested in seeing downtown succeed will be most important for downtown’s future. 
This includes engaging parents and their young children in their downtown, building their affinity for their 
community.


Strategic Implications for Downtown Stoughton


• Becoming more welcoming will be key to a successful downtown future. This encompasses multiple efforts and 
actions—from welcoming diverse people and families to downtown, to permitting visitors and families to access 
restrooms, and to understanding what new downtown businesses need to succeed. Ultimately, being welcoming 
is the basis for all attraction efforts, whether for new residents, businesses, current residents or employees, and 
visitors.


• Collaboration will be required to ensure future success, particularly among private sector interests. A successful 
downtown means all interests, private and public, benefit from the success. As one example, organizers of 
downtown events should be working together to eliminate any duplication and to ensure event publicity, 
success and organization. 


• The private and public sector roles in downtown’s improvement need greater definition. These defined roles will 
establish the context for collaboration. The City and Stoughton’s RDA can examine their processes, regulations, 
and approvals to support this plan’s implementation and downtown’s economic success. The private 
sector needs to attract more customers to their individual businesses and downtown and to ensure quality 
improvements to their historic buildings to enable better.







The Downtown Stoughton Resident/Consumer Survey was conducted from August 6, 2019 through October 8, 2019. 
This online survey consisted of 18 questions and received 1,110 responses. Respondents were not required to answer 
any individual survey question. The following is a summary of the overall survey results. Detailed survey results will be 
provided as an appendix to the overall marker analysis within this plan’s final deliverables.


The purpose of this online survey was to identify respondent preferences specific to downtown Stoughton, informing this 
plan’s strategic recommendations. Fundamentally, the survey results identify what respondents think, not why they think 
the way they do. These results also identify respondent behaviors and attitudes about downtown Stoughton’s shopping 
and dining options and about downtown Stoughton’s overall experience. In addition, survey results provide guidance 
for downtown’s growth by identifying businesses or business categories that could affect additional purchasing in 
downtown Stoughton. Overall, survey respondents were very direct in their observations about their downtown 
Stoughton experience and the kinds of actions needed to improve downtown.


The demographics of the respondent pool are shown on the next two (2) pages, followed by selected survey results by 
question. In analyzing the 1,110 survey responses, Three (3) sub-groups were identified for additional analysis. These 
groups were:


• Respondents aged 25-44. This group represented 37.1% of all survey responses. Their preferences are 
particularly important to downtown’s future, given their interest in events and experiences. This sub-group is 
also forming households, either starting or raising families, and spending higher proportions of their household 
incomes for both reasons.


• Residents of zip code 53589 (Stoughton residents). This respondent group represented 86.3% of all survey 
responses. Given this high percentage, resident responses directly correlated with the results from all survey 
responses.


• Non-residents (other than zip code 53589). Any differences between non-residents’ responses and all 
responses to survey questions are described in the analyses of individual questions below.  


Respondent Demographics


• The overall respondent pool skews older when compared with the City of Stoughton’s population data. The non-
residents responses actually skewed older than all responses.


• The percentage of aged 25-44 responses exceeded that of the City’s percentage of population.


10 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results







11 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


• All responses and non-residents’ responses had higher percentages of ‘I live alone’ responses, generally 
reflecting their higher percentages of older respondents.


• 86.7% of the aged 25-44 sub-group reside in households with multiple people.
• The ‘Other’ responses fit into the categories provided with minimal changes to the overall percentages shown for 


all responses and sub-groups.


• Question 13 respondents resided in 49 different zip codes.
• Question 14 respondents worked in 72 different zip codes.
• For both Questions 13 and 14, most responses were from the Madison region. A small number of zip code 


responses to both questions were from out of state. These responses were from either visitors or local residents 
who telecommute.







12 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


Question 1: All Responses 


• Online shopping is reality. Over 85% of all respondents shop online at least monthly.
• Respondents are visiting a wide range of commercial locales, reflecting the wide range of accessible options in 


the Madison region.
• The ‘Other’ responses included East Towne, Costco/Greenway Station, Middleton, Hilldale, all surrounding 


downtowns, and major commercial strips in Monona and Sun Prairie. Certain individual destination stores or 
restaurants were also noted.







13 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


Question 1: At Least Monthly Comparing Aged 25-44 Responses with All Responses 


• This younger sub-group shops online much more frequently. 60% shop online at least weekly versus 47.3% of all 
respondents.


• This same sub-group also visits downtown Stoughton more frequently than all respondents.
• As noted with all responses, the aged 25-44 sub-group is visiting all of the region’s commercial areas, in 


addition to their online activity.







14 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


Question 2: All Responses 


• This chart combines the responses for ‘would spend a lot more’ and ‘would spend a little more’ for each 
restaurant format.


• The aged 25-44 sub-group’s responses generally tracked with all responses, but with much higher percentages 
for each format--for example, 87.4% would spend more for casual dining versus 75.4%.


• Question 3 (In the past month, how many times did you eat out at restaurants?) results are similar for all 
responses and the non-resident and aged 25-44 sub-groups. 


• 1,103 of the 1,110 respondents answered Questions 2 and 3. Roughly 1/3 of all respondents are dining out 
weekly, and nearly 39% are dining out 7 or more times per month. 


• These dining-related responses present a solid opportunity for strong Stoughton and regional food and 
beverage operators to either expand or consider a downtown Stoughton location, assuming available ground 
level spaces suitable for restaurant build-outs. 







15 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


Question 8: All Responses 


• The following should be noted in considering the above responses:
 þ The percentages displayed in blue and orange combine the Excellent and Above Average ratings for each 


factor.
 þ The percentage for Traffic Flow and Parking combine the Excellent, Above Average, and Average rating for 


each factor. For any community, being the ‘Cadillac’ of parking is cost prohibitive at best. Parking signage 
and online maps were noted within the survey comments as suggestions to address traffic and parking 
concerns. For traffic flow, many issues associated with traffic flow on Main Street are simply outside of the 
City’s control, given U. S. 51 is a federal highway. Overall, both ratings are very good.


 þ The percentages displayed in orange are factors controlled by the private sector, and the percentages 
shown in blue are factors controlled by the public sector. Downtown store and restaurant hours were 
frequently mentioned in the survey comments, including the responses to this question. 


 þ The aged 25-44 sub-group contributed most of this question’s respondent comments (51 of 158). These 
comments, similar to those of other respondents, focused on four (4) areas: bike access (lanes, racks 
and trail connections in downtown Stoughton); outdoor dining options; the need for entertainment and 
entertainment venues; and business hours.







16 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


Question 9: When is it convenient for you to shop? (Comparison between Aged 25-44 Responses and All Responses)


• This question required respondents to select their most convenient shopping timeframe. Multiple comments noted 
Saturdays and Sundays as equally convenient.


• The survey’s older respondents generally identified weekday hours as most convenient for shopping. 
• Of the aged 25-44 sub-group, 98 of the 367 respondents identified early evening hours as most convenient.
• Overall, these results indicate that downtown’s businesses interested in sales growth should consider extended 


hours. Collaboration and ongoing communication about any changes to operating hours will be required. 
Downtown’s businesses also need to remain open for their posted hours.


Other Survey Highlights:


• Respondents, whether all respondents or a sub-group, want downtown gathering places—whether coffee shops, 
outdoor dining options, or public places for events. Younger respondents are particularly interested in children’s 
activities and events and in experiential uses, such as food trucks, pop-ups and temporary uses.


• Respondents described multiple unique business categories as opportunities for downtown Stoughton in survey 
comments. Downtown’s cultural and arts activities were also cited as significant opportunities for growth and 
attraction.


• The Syttende Mai Festival remains popular will all survey respondents. The aged 25-44 respondents attend 
the Farmers Market, Small Business Saturday, and other retail promotions in higher percentages than all 
respondents do.


• While 20.3% of the all respondents are retired, only 3.3% of the aged 25-44 sub-group is not working. Also, 
17.2% of the aged 25-44 sub-group works from home at least one day per week. Recognizing the importance 
of this sub-group to downtown’s economic future will be fundamental to the district’s long-term success.


• Most survey respondents (68.1%) visit downtown Stoughton for 30 minutes to 2 hours. This is a positive 







17 of 19


resident / consumer  survey  results


characteristic. Extending the time spent downtown by residents and visitors will also remain important to 
sustained business success.


Strategic Implications for Downtown Stoughton


• Stoughton residents and visitors are regularly patronizing downtown’s businesses. Cultivating the kinds of 
experiences to capture their loyalty and spending will remain important to future growth.


• Understanding how to meet the needs of new and potential downtown customers will be critical to growing the 
downtown economy.


• Improving downtown’s appearance will require joint public and private sector efforts. Determining what actions 
and programs, including updated incentives, represent the best investment options by both sectors will require 
evaluation and collaboration.


• Downtown is perceived as having multiple opportunities and assets, as a traditional, historic commercial district. 
For downtown’s business owners, improving operations is one opportunity to immediately impact downtown’s 
economy.







The following hypotheticals are ‘back of the envelope’ calculations indicative of downtown Stoughton’s current real 
estate market. These assumptions used to develop these calculations are based on three (3) information sources--
stakeholder interviews with regional real estate professionals, published sources about downtown real estate sales, and 
data from real estate listings for the south Madison area. These assumptions will be re-confirmed with the Stoughton 
RDA’s Downtown Revitalization Committee. 


Commercial rents are a function of commercial activity. Lots of commercial activity means more business revenues. 
Commercial districts, including traditional downtowns, with higher rents generate higher sales per square foot in 
downtown’s businesses. The resulting higher returns to business owners and property owners enable reinvestment. 


Two (2) hypotheticals are shown on the following page. The first hypothetical describes a ground level business 
occupying 1,200SF. The $300 in sales per square foot (PSF) figure is an accepted national average for retail sector 
sales. Ground level rents typically represent 5-8% of total sales for these businesses. For this 1,200 SF space, annual 
rents at 5% and 8% would be $18,000 and $28,800, respectively. These annual rents equate to $15 and $24 PSF, 
respectively. The second hypothetical applies the same 5% and 8% average rent expenses to downtown Stoughton’s 
current ground level rents. For this same 1,200SF storefront, the estimated sales PSF for businesses paying $6 or $10 
PSF ranges from $75 PSF to $200 PSF. These sales figures are significantly below the $300 average sector sales PSF 
cited above.


The final hypothetical displays the rental income for a hypothetical 2-story building in downtown Stoughton. This 
building includes one ground level commercial space and two (2) second floor apartments. Again, the current market 
rents of $6 and $10 PSF are applied. The $6 PSF is the rental rate for an owner-occupant, or a business owner who 
also owns the building. A ground level tenant pays the $10 PSF rent rate. This hypothetical also assumes that the owner 
has a $165,000 mortgage on this property. This scenario supports two (2) points made in this plan’s stakeholder 
interviews: (1) that residential rents are often supporting building debt service; and (2) that minimal cash flow is 
available for building improvement.


18 of 19


current  real  estate  economics







19 of 19


current  real  estate  economics


*Assumes allocated rent by an owner-occupant.


Strategic Implications for Downtown Stoughton


• Important opportunities exist to improve downtown business and real estate economics. While downtown’s 
overall sales are currently challenged, improved operations by downtown businesses can support incremental 
growth and reinvestment.


• Initially, local incentives will need to be adapted to address the most needed improvements to downtown 
buildings. Improving downtown’s storefronts in partnership with the private sector can begin to address two 
(2) issues: improve appearance and potential tenancies; communicate the local commitment to strengthening 
downtown; and indirectly support overall sales growth.








PUBLIC  INPUT  MEETING  Summary


The City of Stoughton and the City’s Redevelopment Authority is currently developing a Downtown 
Economic Strategy. On October 1st, 2019 the Downtown Revitalization Subcommittee of the RDA 
hosted an Open House at the Legeret in downtown Stoughton. Based on sign-in sheets, approximately 
50 members of the community participated. There where several stations where the community gave 
feedback on items such as parking, downtown events, streetscape, business mix, etc. The following report 
summarizes the public input received at the meeting.


A resident reviews the station instruction sheet.


Community members discuss the contents of the vision boards.


Residents gather for the first public input meeting.


1 of 18







2 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


va l u e s  b o a r d


Q U A I N T


H I S T O R I C


S U S TA I N A B L E


V I B R A N T


D I V E R S E


L I VA B L E


I N D E P E N D E N T


G R O W T H


values  board
The Values Board consisted of eight characteristics that describe the essence of Downtown Stoughton. 
Community members were given 2 green dots to place on terms they felt best represented downtown. 
There were 111 dots placed in total. The term Vibrant had the most selections with 27% (30 dots), followed 


4 DOTS 7 DOTS


14 DOTS


2 DOTS


16 DOTS


17 DOTS


21 DOTS


30 DOTS


by Sustainable with 19% (21 dots) and Historic 
with 15% (17 dots). Growth was the next highest 
with 14% (16 dots).


Participants were given an opportunity to provide 
additional comments on the board using post-
it notes or directly on the board. Walkability 
and bikability were popular comments. Under 
Livable, a resident commented “walkable and 
bikable,” while under the Sustainable category, 
one comment was to “decrease car traffic in favor 
of being walkable and bikable.” For the Growth 
category, one response was to “work with Internet 
providers to bring improved Internet for downtown 
businesses and community.”







2 3


4 5 6


7 8 9


w e l c o m e  c e n t e r  &  p u b l i c  fa c i l i t i e s


1


3 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


VISUAL PREFERENCE SURVEY
The Visual Preference Survey included eight themed image boards with precedent images of projects, 
places, and amenities that could be used as inspiration or talking points for the redevelopment plan in 
downtown.  Community members were given 2 green dots per board. They were instructed to place dots 
on images they felt strongly represented what they would like to see in Downtown Stoughton. Below is a 
summary of each board, indicating the top three images chosen per board. The visual preference survey 
results include pages 3-10.


Welcome Center & Public Facilities 
There were 100 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 3 (30%), image 1 (23%), and image 5 (20%). A note on image 7 described how 
the corner of main and 4th street should be used as a welcoming corner with signs, lights.


Comment:
Image 3 represents a reuse of an iconic existing, historic structure. Pedestrian scale lighting, 
large signage, and universal access promote the welcoming character of the preferred image.


20 DOTS


32 DOTS23 DOTS 8 DOTS


0 DOTS 0 DOTS


5 DOTS 3 DOTS 9 DOTS







S t r e e t s c a p e  /  a r t s c a p e


1


2 3


4 5 6


4 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Streetscape / Artscape
There were 111 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 4 (35%), image 3 (28%), and image 6 (23%). Image 4 received the third highest 
number of dots compared to all other boards with 39. Comments described having a major 
welcoming avenue from 4th street to the riverfront, and having a street of murals.


39 DOTS


26 DOTS


31 DOTS


5 DOTS


4 DOTS


5 DOTS


Comment:
The style of art in image 4 is individual and unique, unlike painted cows or painted Bucky’s. 
The intent is a consistent pattern of art but of eclectic expressions, where possible. Often these 
pieces are not readily apparent or visible.







e v e n t s


1 2 3


5 6


7 8


4


9


5 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Events
There were 109 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 9 (30%), image 4 (26%), and image 6 (16%). Comments included having well 
promoted events, more signature events, more kids events, incorporating businesses into events, 
and having a regular food truck space. A note was made on image 5 to provide free outdoor 
summer movies.


28 DOTS 17 DOTS


32 DOTS


14 DOTS


2 DOTS 3 DOTS


5 DOTS4 DOTS1 DOT


Comment:
Image 9 is a representation of a densely spaced outdoor food truck area in a converted 
parking lot. Through the use of recycled industrial equipment, makeshift seating areas, and 
potted plants -- along with the backdrop of colorful trucks -- the space becomes inviting and 
visually interesting. 







1 2


3


5 6


7 8 9 10


S I G N A G E  A N D  WAY F I N D I N G


4


6 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Signage & Wayfinding
There were 101 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 5 (32%), image 9 (18%), and image 4 (14%). There were two comments about 
incorporating the history of Stoughton into the signage or kiosks, including its historic buildings.


14 DOTS


32 DOTS


18 DOTS


2 DOTS3 DOTS


0 DOTS 0 DOTS


13 DOTS


13 DOTS


6 DOTS


Comment:
The downtown kiosk in image 5 utilizes color, history, and a mix of materials to create a 
dynamic, functional wayfinding signage pallet. The simple, contrasting colors used in the map 
are clear and precise, allowing users to quickly engage the sign, and find their destination.







2 3


4 5 6


7 8 9


B u s i n e s s  &  d i n i n g


1


7 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Business & Dining
There were 108 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 3 (38%), image 4 (22%), and image 5 (16%). Image 3 had the second highest 
number of dots compared to all other boards with 41. Comments included having more al 
fresco dining, a mix of businesses, the value of outside dining and Venice spaces, as well as 
having a hotel close to downtown. One community member wrote “Our downtown is unique 
and we should make sure it doesn’t look like everywhere else. We should play up the river, 
opera house and existing buildings with all their personality.”


41 DOTS


17 DOTS
24 DOTS


4 DOTS


5 DOTS


4 DOTS3 DOTS


7 DOTS


3 DOTS


Comment:
Image 3 is an example of a warmly lit indoor/outdoor dining patio. The overhead festoon 
lighting helps enclose the space, while also drawing the sheltered portion to the outside. The 
addition of movable seating allows users to adjust the space as needed for group size and 
function, which helps create character.







A r t  /  g at e way


1 2 3


4 5 6


7 8 9


8 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Art & Gateway
There were 103 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 2 (34%), image 6 (19%), and image 8 (14%). Comments included ensuring art 
installations were appropriate to the area, community and heritage. Additional comments 
discussed having gathering spaces with art installations, having more contemporary art, and 
having a bandstand near the river. One community member indicated they did not like anything 
on the board, but agreed with the need for more art.


35 DOTS


20 DOTS


14 DOTS


8 DOTS


7 DOTS1 DOT


5 DOTS


12 DOTS 1DOT


Comment:
The overhead downtown gateway sign in image 2 is an example of a design that is 
complemented by it’s purpose and surrounding aesthetic. A sign highlighting a historic avenue 
should use clean and purposeful geometry that draws from the history of the area.







pa r ks  &  o p e n  s pa c e s


1 2 3


4 5 6


7 8 9


9 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Parks & Open Spaces
There were 109 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 1 (42%), image 5 (31%), and image 7 (9%). Image 1 had the highest number of 
dots, 46, compared to all other boards. Comments included utilizing the riverway, more open 
gathering spaces, and dog friendly spaces. 


46 DOTS


34 DOTS


10 DOTS


1 DOT 1 DOT


4 DOTS


4 DOTS9 DOTS


0 DOTS


Comment:
Image 1 illustrates a riverfront open space that isn’t overly designed and provides an equal 
mix of vegetation, natural features, and pedestrian amenities to provide interest throughout the 
space. The path follows the natural curvature of the river which is smooth and organic, instead 
of arbitrarily directing users on an unconventional route.







pa r k i n g


1 2 3


5 6


7 8


4


9 10


10 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Parking
There were 75 total dots placed on this board. The images with the highest number of dots 
were image 7 (45%), image 9 (33%), and image 8 (20%). There were several comments 
about limiting parking tickets and providing more free and extended (2+ hour) parking. Other 
residents commented about adding more bicycle parking and E.V. charging. One respondent 
didn’t see parking as a priority, rather making the downtown more walkable and connected 
with the regional bike path system.


15 DOTS 24 DOTS34 DOTS


3 DOTS4 DOTS 5 DOTS


5 DOTS


3 DOTS


4 DOTS2 DOTS


Comment:
The parking design in image 7 represents street side angled parking adjacent to a widened 
sidewalk for bigger groups and more leisurely movement. There is a nice vegetated barrier 
between the cars and the sidewalk which helps separate an undesirable element from the 
sidewalk and storefronts.







I ' d  l o v e  t o  s e e  t h i s  i n 
d o w n t o w n  s t o u g h t o n : 


v i s i o n  b o a r d


s i g n a g epa r k i n g
h o u s i n g


pa r ks  &  o p e n 


s pa c e s
e v e n t s


n e w 
b u s i n e s s e s


11 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


vision  board
The Vision Board consisted of six themes that may be represented in the redevelopment plan. Residents 
were given 1 green dot to place on the theme they felt should be part of the downtown redevelopment. 
With 57 total dots, New Businesses recorded the most dots with 34 (60%), followed by Events with 11 
dots (19%).


Several comments were recorded on this 
board. The most common suggestion 
was to have more neighborhood events 
to bring the community and surrounding 
area to downtown Stoughton. The next 
most common suggestion was attracting 
more businesses to the city such as coffee 
shops and book stores. Another common 
idea was to turn the area into a local art 
district, incentivizing business owners to rent 
space for art installations, or increasing the 
presence of murals, sculptures, and art live-
work opportunities.


2 DOTS 0 DOTS
5 DOTS


5 DOTS


34
 D


O
TS


11
 D


O
TS


4


1 1


2 2


1


2


5


3


1 1 1


2


1 1


2 2







12 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


OPEN  SPACE  BOARD
The Open Space Board was an opportunity to write in comments about subjects or themes residents 
saw throughout the night, or that they felt were missed. There were eight categories for residents to place 
comments or ideas on the board. The following pages will provide a summary of the comments received in 
each category.







13 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Parking
The comments for parking were specific to roughly 5 themes; free parking/less ticketing, better/
more parking, more bike parking, having a downtown parking structure, and more visitor 
friendly parking. Free parking/ less ticketing was the most common idea with 4 notes, followed 
by better/more parking with 3 notes. However, though most comments centered on improving 
parking, a few residents disagreed with the need. One resident said “stop whining about 


Streetscape
There were 7 distinct categories of comments received under streetscape: Having more 
sidewalk seating, developing north and south of river, more trees and landscaping on Main St, 
preserve historic buildings, storefront façade improvement, re-develop the streetscape
and provide recycling bins. Installing more trees and landscaping on Main St was the most 
popular comment, followed by creating more sidewalk seating. One resident suggested to 


25%


8%


25%
8%


33%


Better/more parking


Bike parking


Parking structure


Visitor friendly parking


Free parking/less
ticketing


27%


7%


20%
13%


13%


7%


13%


Sidewalk seating


Develop north and south of River


Trees and landscaping on Main


Preseve historic buildings


Storefront façade improvement


Redevelop streetscape


Recycling bins


27%


7%


20%
13%


13%


7%


13%


Sidewalk seating


Develop north and south of River


Trees and landscaping on Main


Preseve historic buildings


Storefront façade improvement


Redevelop streetscape


Recycling bins


parking,” while another 
wrote, “I never have trouble 
parking. Is this really a 
priority? If we have events 
and businesses people want, 
they will come...” 


widen sidewalks “...for more 
outdoor dining/drinking. We have 
such long winters, it’s nice to be 
outside when weather is good.”







14 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


77%


8%


15%


Murals


Themed downtown artwork


Work with local artists


Artscape
There were 3 categories of comments recorded in this section; murals, themed downtown 
artwork, and working with local artists. Comments regarding murals were the most common 
type with 10 out of 13 responses 
expressing the desire for more 
murals. Comments included 
placing murals on all buildings, 
working with local artists to 
commission artwork, and 
installing themed artwork for 
different times of the year.  


New Businesses
Responses for new businesses were ranged and varied. A few themes did materialize, including 
bringing in food trucks, a new grocer/co-op, and encouraging existing businesses while making 
sure new businesses are unique, desired, and can compete in the Internet age. One resident 
said, “give people what they can’t get on Amazon; knowledge, experiences, and services.” 
Another commented about the void the Co-op left, saying it, “makes Stoughton less livable. 
Would love to see a well curated general store/co-op so we don’t have to drive to Willy St.” 
Others commented on the hours of operations asking, “Can we help businesses be open in the 
evening and on Sunday’s?”


The “Wordle” shown below 
provides another, subjective look 
at these open ended responses, 
based on the frequency of words 
as they appear in this theme.







Events
Responses for events were varied, however a few themes emerged. Residents discussed the 
need for more festivals, using the gazebo at Rotary Park for a stage, and the surrounding 
downtown parks for event spaces. Another common response was the need for an events 
coordinator, as one resident said “we need an events coordinator that works with the city and 
C.C. to keep the downtown active and alive.” Other ideas that received multiple responses 
were to fill the vacant spaces and to continue expanding the farmers market. One community 
member described expanding the farmers market “so we can support local producers and be 


more sustainable.“
The “Wordle” shown 
below provides another, 
subjective look at these 
open ended responses, 
based on the frequency 
of words as they appear 
in this theme.


15 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary


Housing
Responses for housing centered on needing more lofts and condominiums, as well as providing 
more affordable and low income housing. One comment suggested “condos on the river 
with small businesses like coffee shops, bookstores, and small gift shops.” Speaking about 
affordable housing, one community member asked for “resources for individuals and families 
for housing.” while another said, “rent downtown needs to be more affordable.”


The “Wordle” shown below 
provides another, subjective 
look at these open ended 
responses, based on the 
frequency of words as they 
appear in this theme.







Parks and Open Spaces
Many residents agreed taking advantage of the riverfront was a high priority for improving 
Stoughton’s parks and open spaces. Some talked about providing a more dynamic experience 
along the river, utilizing businesses, gardens, and installations to make it more interactive. 
Another resident asked to “link the riverfront development to downtown.”  


Signage
Signage received only 8 community comments, however almost all of the comments agreed 
that updated signage is needed in the downtown. Many said having kiosks would be beneficial 
and one resident mentioned having a kiosk “where people can hang notices and promote 
community events.” Other suggestions were to have more “helpful signage” that would indicate 
where parking can be found and if parking were full. Another suggestion was to eliminate 
downtown billboards. One resident said signage can “create an emotional experience for 
people.”


The “Wordle” shown 
below provides 
another, subjective look 
at these open ended 
responses, based on 
the frequency of words 
as they appear in this 
theme.


The “Wordle” shown below 
provides another, subjective 
look at these open ended 
responses, based on the 
frequency of words as they 
appear in this theme.


16 of 18


public  input  meeting  summary







!( !(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(
!(


!(!(
!(!( !(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(!(
!(
!(


!(
!(!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(!(


!(


!(


!( !(


!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!( !( !(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(!(


!(


!(!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(
!(
!( !(


!(
!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(
!(


!( !( !(
!(


!( !( !(


!(


!(


!( !(


!(
!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(


!( !(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(
!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


!(


EAST MAIN STREET


Bike
Shop


Bed &
Breakfast


City
Parking


Lot


Cinema 
& Cafe Pharmacy


City Hall


City
Parking


Lot Post 
Office


City
Parking


Lot


Art
Gallery


Chamber of
Commerce


Youth
Center


Senior
Center


Heritage
Center


City
Parking


Lot


Co-Op
Library


City
Parking


Lot


Police 
Department


Fire
Department


Opera
House


City
Parking


Lot


Rotary
Park


Y
a


h
a


r
a


R
i


v
e


r


WEST MAIN STREET


SO
UT


H
 P


AG
E 


ST
RE


ET


NORTH STREET


SO
UT


H
 F


OU
RT


H
 S


TR
EE


T


EAST SOUTH STREET


EAST JEFFERSON STREET


WEST MAIN STREET


SO
UT


H
 D


IV
IS


IO
N 


ST
RE


ET


SO
UT


H
 S


EV
EN


TH
 S


TR
EE


T


SO
UT


H
 W


AT
ER


 S
TR


EE
T


SO
UT


H
 F


OR
RE


ST
 S


TR
EE


T


SO
UT


H
 S


IX
TH


 S
TR


EE
T


EAST WASHINGTON STREET


EI
GH


TH
 S


TR
EE


T


BRICKSON STREET


SO
UT


H
 L


YN
N 


ST
RE


ET


M
AI


N
-P


AG
E 


CO
UR


T


HI
LL


SI
DE


 A
VE


NU
E


DUNKIRK AVENUE


SO
UT


H
 F


IF
TH


 S
TR


EE
T


NO
RT


H 
LY


N
N 


ST
RE


ET


GARFIELD STREET


WEST JEFFERSON STREET


NO
RT


H 
FO


RR
ES


T S
TR


EE
T


NO
RT


H 
DI


VI
SI


ON
 S


TR
EE


T


M
AN


IL
LA


 S
TR


EE
T


WEST SOUTH STREET


WEST WASHINGTON STREET


NO
RT


H 
PA


GE
 S


TR
EE


T


WEST JEFFERSON STREET


SO
UT


H
 F


IF
TH


 S
TR


EE
T


WEST WASHINGTON STREET


Public Meeting Preference Results


STICKERS PLACED


!( Positive


!( Neutral


!( Negative


LEGEND


STICKER DENSITY


More
Negative


More
Positive


COMMENTS
• Larger sidewalk for outdoor seating on Forest.
• The river needs to be included. It is the downtown to my way of thinking.
• Expand the sidewalk on S. Forest (across from City Hall) for outdoor café seating.
• Youth center – more opportunities for all families and promotions.
• Uniroyal should be given incentive to move off river.
• Powerhouse would be a great community center with a coffee shop.
• I would hate to see the riverfront development happen with shacks across the street.
• Ugly billboard.


17 of 18
N 0 200 FT







W MAIN ST E MAIN ST


S W
ATER ST


S DIVISION ST


S FOREST ST


S FOURTH ST


W JEFFERSON ST E JEFFERSON ST


E WASHINGTON ST


NORTH ST


FIFTH ST


S SEVENTH ST


S SIXTH ST


S PAGE ST


W MAIN ST


E MAIN ST


S FOURTH ST


City
Parking


LotCity
Parking


Lot


City
Parking


Lot


Uniroyal
Parking


Lot


City
Parking


Lot


City
Parking


Lot


City
Parking


Lot


City
Parking


Lot


Opera
House


City Hall


YAHARA RIVER


Uniroyal


Rotary
ParkFire


Department
Police


Department


Post
Office


Cinima &
Cafe


Senior
Center


Coop


Stoughton
Area


School
District


School
District


Parking Lot


Chamber of
Commerce


Youth
Center


Art
Gallery


Bike
Shop


Bed &
Breakfast


Foundry


Pharmacy


Library


Heritage
Center


Veterans
Memorial


Park


Division
Street Park


W
ISCONSIN & SOUTHERN


RAILROAD


First
Lutheran
Church


W WASHINGTON ST


BRICKSON ST


CENTRAL BUSINESS


INSTITUTIONAL


PARK


NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS


SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL


TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL


MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL


INDUSTRIAL


WATER


ROADS


PARKING


BUILDING


RAIL


STUDY BOUNDARY


L E G E N D


EXISTING STOUGHTON ZONING


18 of 18
N 0 200 FT


1. Identify where outdoor dining should 
take place.


2. Identify where murals should be located.
3. Identify where a “community meal”; 


long-table should be held.
4. Identify 2 places you think are not safe.
5. Identify the busiest spot:
        
Mon - Fri
        6am - 9am
        9am - 5pm
        9am - 5pm
Sat - Sun
        8am - 10am
        10am - 1pm
        1pm - 6pm








Project Schedule and Schedule of Deliverables 
 
Task 1. Mtg 1 – Kickoff 
a. Participation by (2) two planning/design professionals in an up to 


two‐hour project kick off meeting. 


Completed 7/2/2019 


b. Written memorandum summarizing what was heard by the 


planning/design team at the meeting including the assignment of 


action items or next steps. 


Completed and sent 7/11/2019 


Task 2. Key Stakeholder Interviews 
c. Participation by (1) one planning/design professional to conduct up 


to (8) eight (1‐1.5) one to one and half‐hour personal interviews in 


Stoughton with various entities as described in the task. When 


necessary, to meet participant’s time schedules, phone interviews 


may be conducted.   


Completed 8/9/2019 


Task 3. Base Data Assembly 
d. Assembly of digital base mapping and data for the project study 


area in a CAD or GIS‐based format. 
Completed and sent 8/30/2019 


Task 4. Background Review of Market Conditions 
e. Review of existing market conditions in downtown Stoughton.  Completed 9/27/2019 


f. Assembly and combining of data provided by the City, RDA, county 


or national demographic databases.  


Completed 10/30/2019 


g. Preliminary written description of downtown Stoughton’s likely 


markets and existing conditions. 


Pending discussion on 11/5/2019 


Task 5. Mtg 2 – Public Input Meeting 1 
h. Coordination with the RDA and City to identify and secure PIM #1 


location. 


Completed 10/1/2019 


i. Preparation of materials to be used in PIM #1 (boards, maps of 


existing conditions, feedback forms or presentation based on 


identified strategy). 


Completed and sent 8/30/2019 


j. Participation by (2) two planning/design professionals in an up to 


(4) four‐hour Public Input Meeting. 


Completed 10/1/2019 


Task 6. Business Owner Focus Group 
k. Participation by (1) one planning/design professional to facilitate a 


(1.5‐2) one and half to two‐hour focus group session with up to 8‐


12 downtown business owners to review key downtown issues. 


Completed 8/9/2019 


Task 7. Report of Findings 
l. Summary written report of the findings resulting from Tasks 1‐6. 


These findings will be used to inform the development of concepts. 


Draft Sent 10/30/2019; final to 


be completed by 11/19/2019, 
based on conversation on 
11/5/2019. 


m. Meet with the RDA to review the summary report.  Scheduled 11/5/2019 


Task 8. Concept Alternatives 
n. (2) two scaled, color‐rendered, plan‐view concept drawings 


illustrating possible development, redevelopment or 


recommended. 


Draft to be sent 12/3/2019 


Task 9. Residential/Customer Survey 
o. Creation of a web‐based survey instrument.   Completed 7/2/2019 







p. Posting of instrument in a web‐format and creation of link for 


distribution. 


Completed 8/7/2019 


q. Management of survey instrument.  Completed 10/7/2019 


r. Assembly and analysis of responses.   Completed 10/30/2019 


s. Report of responses.  Draft 10/30/2019; Final sent 


11/19/2019 
Task 10. Mtg 3 – Review of Alternative Concepts 
t. Participate by (1) one planning/design professional in an up to (2) 


two‐hour concept review meeting with the RDA. 


December 2019 


Task 11. Best Practices Assessment 
u. Comparative study of Stoughton with (4) four precedent 


communities. Study will evaluate downtown‐related management, 


growth, programming, or initiatives.  


December 2019 


v. Written summary of comparing Stoughton with precedent 


communities. 


December 2019 


Task 12. Preferred Concept 
w. (1) one scaled, color‐rendered, plan‐view concept drawing 


illustrating possible development, redevelopment or 


recommended improvements within the project/study area in a 


pdf or jpeg format.  


Concept will be based on feedback received in Task 10 and 


supported by market findings in Tasks 9 and 11.  


Concept will be prepared at 24”x36” size and may include 


supporting precedent imagery or sketches.  


January/February 2020 


Task 13. Mtg 4 – Public Input Meeting 2   
x. Coordination with the RDA and City to identify and secure PIM #1 


location. 


December 2019 /January 2020 


y. Preparation of presentation materials to be used in PIM #2.  December 2019 /January 2020 


z. Participation by (2) two planning/design professionals in an up to 


(4) four‐hour Public Input Meeting. 


January 2020 


Task 14. Draft Final Report   
aa. Layout and assembly of draft final report in a digital format (pdf).  


Final report will be a written summary of the project, findings, 


planning and design objectives and outcomes.  It will be supported 


with images from the project including concepts or precedent 


images as well as appropriate photos captured during the project 


process.  


The report is expected to include recommended next steps and 


proposed next step timeline, as well as possible funding for future 


projects. 


February/March 2020 


Task 15. Mtg 5 – Final Report Presentation   
bb. Participation by (2) two planning/design professionals in an up to 


(2) two‐hour meeting and presentation of the final report and 


recommendations. 


March/April 2020 


Task 16. Final Report   







cc. Preparation of final edits to the report based on the presentation 


in Task 15.  


March 2020 


dd. Final report in a digital format (pdf).  March/April 2020 


 
 
 





